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SECRET 

, , 
Statement of Rear Admiral H. E. Kimmel, 
U. s. Navy, Retired, before the Naval. 
Court of Iuquiry Investigating 'the 
Japanese Attack on Pearl Harbor, read· 
before the Court on 27 September 1944. 

It is not necessary for me to make this first part of my statement 
. to the members of this Court. However, since the rumor has been widely 
circulated during the la.st two years and a half' tbat I was a friend or in­ 
timate associate of the President of the U:pit.ed States, I desire to talte 
this opportunity to place on the record a categorical denial of that story. 
The only meetings I ever had with the President., prior to my official vis­ 
it to Washi11gton as Commander-in-Chief of .the United States Pacific Fleet · 
in June of 1941, approximately six months after my appointment, were in 
~he course of official routine duties and occurred more than twenty yeare 
prior to my taking command in the Pacific. During more than forty years 
of service in the Navy, I have Dever sought or owed advancement to any po­ 
litical connection of any nature or description. 

The following are the circumstances in connection with nzy- retire­ 
ment. (I set them fortp because this matter ha.a been so freg_uently misr.e- 
presen d (in the press~ . 

On 25 January 1942 I was informed by Rear Admiral Greenslade, U.S.:N., 
Commander 12th NavaJ. District, San Francisco.~· California, that Rear Admir­ 
Ei.l Randall Jacobs, U.S.N • ., Chief of the Bureau of :Navigation, Navy Depart­ 
ment, Washington, D. c., had telephoned an official message to be deliver­ 
ed to me which stated that Admiral Jacobs had been directed by the Acting 
Secretary of the Navy to inform me that General Short had sul::mitted a re­ 

·f.il.Uest for retirement. I took this as a suggestion that I subnit a similar 
request and on 26 Januf,ry I sul::taitted a re.quest for retirement. Until I 
received this message from the N~vy·Department I had not even thought of 
subnitting a request for retirement. 

On .28 January I was informed by Rear Admiral Greenslade that Admir­ 
al H. R. Stark, u.s.N., Chief of Naval Operatiolls, had telephoned a message 
for me to the effect that my notification of General Short's request for re­ 
tirement was not meant to influence me. 

I thereupon submitted my letter of 28 January in which I stated, "I 
desire my request for retirement to s~d, subject only to determination by 
the Department .as to what eourae of aftion will best serve the interests of 
the country and the good of the service.~- · ·- 

Subsequently I learned from Admiral Jacobs that the Ofticial direct­ 
:ll"lg him to inform me that General Short had sul:mitted a re~uest for retire~ 
ment was not the .Acting Secretary, but the Sevr~tc-y- of the Navy, Mr. Ino~. 

On .. 22 February 1942 in a letter to Admiral Stark, Chief of Naval 
Operations, I stated in part: •I suhnitted this request solely to permit 
the Department to take whatever action they deemed best for the interest 
of the. country. I did not subnit it in order to escape censure or puni·sh­ 
ment.• 
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The approval. of my reguest for' retirement included the statement: 
nThis approval of your request for re·l;irement is without condonation of 
any offense or preju;Iice to future disciplinary action.• 

I was notified through the public press.on or about 1 March 19-42 
, that the Secretary of the Navy had directed that charges and specifica­ 

tions be prepared to bring me to triaJ. by General Court Martial ,at some 
future time. 

When I took command of the neet, it was based in Pearl, Harbor·. 
The decision to bawe the fleet there was made prior to my taking command. 
I do not propose now to debate the wisdom or unwisdom of that decision. 
The reasor1 assigned for the presence of the fleet in Hawaiian waters by 
the Chief of Naval Operations in a letter to Admiral Richardson dated 
Z'l Mey 1940 (Exhibit 26) was, •the deterrent effect which it is thought 
your presence may have on the Japanese going into the East Indies.n My 
predecessor, .Admiral Richardson, took up all phases of the decision to 
base the fleet in Pearl Harbor with the Chief of Naval Operations and the 
President. 

That decision, however, created fundamental problems for my consid­ 
eration as Commander-in-Chief, among many other problems with which I had 
to deal. 

The.re were certain weaknesses in Pearl Harbol' as a fleet base. 
They were well known to the Department. They had been pointed out by Ad­ 
miral Richardson both to the Navy Department and to the President. On my 
own official trip to Washington 1n J'Wle of 1941, in conversation with Ad­ 
miral Stark and the President, I pointed out the following facts: 

1. The neet base at Pearl Harbor, due to the congestion or 
ships, fuel oil storage, and repair facilities, was exposed to at­ 
tack, particularly f'rom the air. 

2. The single entrance channel, which must be used by all 
ships, exposed them to subnarine attack. 

3. The danger of' b~ocld.l1g this single entrance channel must 
be constantly considered~ 

4. In case of attack by air or otherwise with the fleet in 
port, it would talce at least three _hous~ to complete a sortie. t6 t ·1,1\.. 

5. That Pearl Harbor is the only refueling, replacement, and 
repair point £or ships operating in the Hawaiian area. ' 

6~ That ships must spend considerable time in Pearl Harbor for 
these purposes, for relaxation for the crews, and to complete the' 
considerable nµmber of altera'l;ions and additions required due to 
war experience. · 

7. That the oDly real answer was r or the neat not to be in 
Pearl Harbor when the attack came., 
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I mention these matters to indieate the basic problems created by the 
decision to base the fleet at Pearl Harbor. I~ is not possible to draw a 
comparison between the security of such a base immediately prior to the out­ 
break of hostilities, and its security in war time. .After hostilities com­ 
mence and the fleet is not restricted by any policy of waiting for the po­ 
tential enemy to commit the first overt act, our own offensive operat~ons 
afford a large measure of protection to the base. In peace time the condi­ 
tion and movement of the fle~t at Pearl Harbor could scarcely be concealed 
from the watchful eyes of enemy agents. 'l'he very topography of Pearl Harbor 
and the large Japanese population of the islands created that danger. Once 
the neet was placed there, for the assumed purpose of exerting a deterrent 
effect upon Japan, it was not maintaining a consistent policy thereafter to 
weaken the fleet, visibly and plainly, by diversion of powerful units to the 
Atlantic. 

Other Harbors besides Pearl Harbor in the Hawaiian Islands coul.d not 
be used because of their extreme wlnerability to subna.rine attack • .About 
a month before I became Commander-in-Chief, Admiral .Richardson issued orders 
that no ship was t6 be .anchored at ~a because he considered it :was no 
longer safe against submaririe attack. I fully agreed with and continued. in 
effect this policy. 

Apart, from the inherent handicaps of Pearl Harbor as a base, the:re 
were obvious deficiencies in the equipment necessary for its protection. 
The postulate in Joint Action Army-Navy 1935 (Exhibit 6), V(as "Strategic 
freedom of action of the fleet must be assured. The fleet mug~ pave no~­ 
iety in regard to the securit;v of its base.• Unfortunately-this -was ,the • · 
merest - theory·• in, Pearl • Barbor · in · the · year -1941. The efforts made by me and 
my predecessor to strengthen the base defense are a matter of record in vol­ 
uninous correspondence with the Department which is already before this Court. 
Time and again there were pointed out to the Navy Department in Washington, 
the weaknesses :l,n the Army's eguipment and material available for the exer­ 
cise of its specifically assigned and assumed functions of. base defense. 
The letter of January 25;;· 1941 (Exhibit 70) addressed to the Chief of Naval 
Operations, written by my predecessor, Admiral. Richardson, and prepared as 
stated therein ·with my collaboration, in paragraph 7(a), (b), (d), emphasi■es 
•the critical. inadequacy of AA guns availabl~ for the defense of Pearl Harbor," 
11the small number and obsolete condition of land based aircraft detection de­ 
vices ashore.• The letter stated that "it is considered imperative that im- 
11iediate measures be undertaken to correct the critical defici~ncies enumerat­ 
ed above. It is further believed that these measures should take priority 
over the needs of contdnenbak districts, the training program and material 
aid to Great Britain.fl .Again in-my official letter of 26 May 1941 tq the 
Chief of Naval Operations (F.xhibit 3.3) :il:i paragraph 5(b) I said~ "The defense 
of the fleet base at-Pearl Harbor is a mattei ·Of consider.able concern. We 
should continue to bring pressure to bear on the Army to get more .azrti-air­ 
craft guns, airplelles and radar equipment in Hawaii and to insure priority 
for this over continental and expanding.Army needs.• 

--' The deficiencies in the equipnent which the .Army needed to exercise __ . __ .. ...---::,;:::.·-· 
its proper functions in the defense of the naval base at Pearl Harbof, poi~.-- 
ed out by Admiral Richardson and myself' during the year prior to Deg~, 
1941, had not been remedied at the time of the Japanese attack. --·· ·=· 

' 
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One import.£1Dt and necessary element irl the ability of the naval 

forces to exercis~-their appr~priate duties in connection with the defense 
of the base was patrol planes. Plana of' the Navy Department provided that 
ultimately there would be supplied to the Pacific fleet sufficient planes 
to cover operations of the fleet, with planes based on Wake, Midway, John­ 
ston., Palmyra, and Oahu, and still have a.sufficient number to establish a 
continuous search aroi.md Oahu when the fleet was operating in distant wat­ 
ers. My recollection is that the plan allocated approximately 108 patrol 
planes to the Commandant of the 14th Naval District for such searching and 
defensive op6rations as ca.me within his sphere and also allocated more tb.a.n 
16o patDOl planes for the use or the neet. These patrol planes were to be 
based 011 outlying islands, which we were developing .as rapidly as co11ditions 
permitted to insure an adequate supply of fuel., 'bombs and other ammunition 
for patrol pla.Il53S operating therefrom. In addition, our seaplane tenders 
would permit the supply of seaplanes from any harbor where they could be 
landed and refueled. The tot~. number of patrol plesDes assigned to the Pac­ 
ific fleet and the Commeindant of the 14th Naval District on December 7, 1941, 
was 81. - 

Perhaps of more interest to this Court than otll' many deficiencies in 
equipment for base defense., were the plans ma.de for the best utilization of 
,,hat we had. There bas been introduced in evidence Pacific Fleet confideD­ 
tia1 letter 2CL4l (F.xh:ibit 8) originally promulgated about two weeks after -r took command., and revised under date of October 14, 19/41. A study of ·this 
letter shows our plan for berthing ships in Pear~ Harbor by sectors so that 
they would develop the maximum. anti-aircraft gunfire in each sector consist­ 
ent with the total number of ships of aJ.l types in port. The same security 
order designate~ the Commandant of the 14th Naval Dis.trict as the Naval. Base 
Defense Officer. His selection .as Naval Base Defense Officer was entirely 
in harmony with the generaJ. purpose of the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense • 
Plan worked out by the General commanlli;ng the Hawaiian Department -and the 
Commandant of the 14th Na.val. District·. · 

By joint a.greement between the War and Navy Departments (Exhibit 6) 
and by the provision of war plans and existing instructions., the Army was 
c];larged with aDd made responsible-for the defense of the fleet base at Pearl 
Harbor. No orders or instructions issued at any time lessened or mitigated 
the .Arrq's responsibility for such defense. The Commandant 0£ the 14th Nav­ 
~l District was charged with the direction of the naval force made available 
by me to assist the :Army. The Army did not have a sufficient GHQ .Air Force 
aveilable to assume fully its responsibilities. The Commandant was charged 
with the coordination of t,Jie naval force with the .Army effort to defend the 
fleet base at Pearl Harbor. 

,As a part of the plan for coordinating the .'Army and Navy activities 
for the defense of the. base, there was approved on ,April 2, 1941, a plaD 
dated March 28, 1941, entitled, ttJoint Coastal Fr()l:tier Defense Plan,• 
(Exhibit 7). Tb.is plan dealt with joint air operatdons, joint"comrirunical"'" 
tionsJ joint anti-aircraft measures and joint use of munitions. There was 
also promulgated on March 31, 1941, Addendum l to Naval Base Defense Air 
Forces Operation Plan No. A-l-41 signed by the Major General who commanded 
the Ha•aiia.n air force and the Rear .Admiral.tWho :was Commander of the Naval 
Base Defense ,Air Force. (~bit 53). This document was followed by Adden­ 
dum II Naval Base Defenae Ai.I· Force Operation Plan No. A-1-41 dated 
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· April 9, 1941 (E:xhibit 53, Document 6h 1)e- plans for joint air operations 
by the AI'Dzy' and Navy in Oahu constituted in the minds of the Navy Department 
all outstanding example of progress in coord:illation between the services. 
Since tbese plans have been- introduced :lJ;J evidence before the Com·t, it is 
hardly necessary for me to describe them in detail. Copies of these docu-­ 
ments were promptly furnished the Navy Department and were accepted. 

As C011lJilaDder-in-CP.ief of the Pacific Fleet, I had a fieet to prepare 
for war. I had an international situation, always of grave portent, to 
elvaluate. It :was my task to meet each situation which presented itself with­ 
in the broad reaches of the Pacific and deal with it by appropriate action. · 

One of my principal concerns was, of course, the men and ships of th~ 
fleet, After all, one does not train ships, but rather the men who man the 
ships. The men and officers Jfbo·were detailed to the engine room, to the 
guns, to the radio, to the ship control, to the look-outs, to the electrical 
installations, to the fire control for the guns, to the signals, to the com­ 
missary, and numerous other billets had to be trained before they were compe­ 
tent. ·A breakdown or iDefficiency in any one of these categories might well 
be very costly, in time of war. Con~taDtly challging personnel, both officer.a; 
and enlisted men, and the induction, of new personnel, including a substantial. 
portion of recruits and reserves, made it a vital necessity to maintain an in­ 
tensified training pro&,'l'am. At times during ray tenure as Commander-in-Chief, 
as high as 70% of the me11 on board individual ships had never heard a gun . 
fired. Considerably more then 50% of the'officers were newly commissioned. 

One great handicap was the constant and very large turnover of enlist­ 
ed men and officers. This was caused by the necessity of sending trained men 
to new construction and the expiration of enlistments, which necessitated 

- the supply of large numbers of un.trained personnel. This situation extend­ 
ed up to and including December 7. The situation was thoroughly presented 
to the Chief of Naval Operations in my letter of May,26, 1941 (Exhibit 33) 
entitled,, •Survey of Conditions in the Pacific Fleet." I refer the Court.to 
paragraph l(a), (b), and (c) of that letter wherein this condition is ex­ 
haustive~· treated. The training program extended to the air arm of the 
Navy. For example, we were directed ~o transfer about twelve trained patrol 
plane crews per month to the mainland • 

.As to the fleet, itself on December 7, 1941, the Naval forces of the 
Pacific Fleet were il'.lf'erior to the Japanese Navy in every category of fight­ 
ing ship, inferior in cargo and troop transports and in tankers and other 
supply vessels. This fa.ct ~as recognized in Washington. The joint memoran­ 
dum of 5 Hovember 1941 to the President signed by both the Chief of Staff' 
and the Chief of Naval Operations, ·a copy of which is in evidence (;Exhibit 
..39A), states unqualifiedly that the Pacific Fleet was inferior to the Jap­ 
anese Fleet~ As I read that memorandum the inferiority of the Pacif'ic­ 
Fieet iras the basic reason supporting the ultimate recommendation that no 
ultimatum should be delivered to Japan. 

Specifically, there were only ll tankers in the entire Pacific. We 
were particul~rly deficient iD land-based and carrier-based planes. The 
JapaDese .at the outbreak of hostilities had between ll a.nd 15 aircraft car- 
riers in commission and operatirn:g, 4 or 5 of which represented converted Y 
merchant ships. We had 3 carriers in the Pacific. Although the battleships 
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of the fleet were of approximately the 'same age as the heavy ships of the 
Japanese Navy, they were particularly deficient in short-range anti-aircraft 
weapons. In general, all ships in the fleet were woefully deficient in 
short-range anti-aircraft weapons as we ha~ been UDsuccessful in producing 
in quantity enough anti-aircraft artillery for mounting. This last mention­ 
ed deficiency we were engaged in remedying at the time of Pearl Harbor, but 
our ta.sk was only 10% completed. ..Anti-aircraft control· gear for these and 
larger guns was not adequate , Our surface gunnery and our surface weapons 
because of constant care and attention were in excellent condition. 

There was an imperative need for 8ll extensive trainiµg and target 
practice program for every ship1 s crew and every plane crew. By the early 
spring of 1941, target and base~-facilities to permit the prosecution of an 
intensive fleet training program had been transferred from the West Coast 
to Hawaii. To tow the considerable D'UJllber of target rafts, to transport 
the utility and transport planes, and to bring the other training auxiliar­ 
ies and fleet fueling facilities from the West Coast to Hawaii especially 
when we were short of auxiliary vessels was, in itself, a pjor task. Nor 
was the training program permitted to go on without diversion of sizable 
.fleet units to other theaters. In May and June of 1941, one aircraft carrier, 
three Battleships, four 10,000 ton light cruisers, eighteen destroyers, six 
transports, with practically all the trained and equipped marines on the West 
Coast, several small transports and some other smaJ.l craft,. were trans.ferred 
from the Pacific to the Atlantic. The details of this transfer must have been 
,.quickly known in Japan. This transfer took away 'approximately one-fourth of 
the fighting ·ships of the Pacific Fleet, and resulted in a very substantiaJ. 
reduction in the potentialities of the Pacific Fleet. This same action which 
wok all the transports and the traiDed marines from the West Coast, left us 
only-• marines required to man the.outlying islands plus the garrison at 
Pearl Harbor. 

By December 7, 1941, some additional marines had been trained :at San 
Diego and one transport out of a totaJ. of four under conversion on the West 
Coast had been commissioned. The training of marines in landing operations , 
had of necessity been incomplete and their equipment was entirely inadequate. 

When I •as in Washington in June, 1941, it was seriously proposed to 
transfer from the Pacific to the Atlantic an additional detachment to con­ 
sist of three battleships, four craisers, two squadrons of destroyers and a 
carrier. I opposed this strenuously. The transfer was not made. 

In carcyillg out the training program, it was necessary for me to ha.!8 
precise and accurate knowledge of the appropriate time to interrupt training 
by ma.king strategic dispositions. The international situation was grave from 
the moment I took command. I had to consider at all times the physical ef­ 
fect on the personnel of the fleet of long periods of watch.standing in port 
in peace .time and the result that such demands might destroy the very vigil­ 
ance that we were seeking to attain • 

.Admiral Richardson bas testified to the frequent communications he re­ 
ceived from Washington emphasizing the possibility of war. (See, for example, 

. EKhibit 76, Document 3). lly official correspondence from the Chief of Naval 
Operations, which is before the Court, in effect plots a graph of recurrent 
tension in the international situation feom February on. It is studded with 
expressions that, ~hat will happen :bl the Pacific is .anyone's gueas•; "that 
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peace hangs by a slender thread"; "that,the siwation is serious." An "open 
rupture" was described as a possibility on July 24 (Exhibit 71); the situa­ 
tion was described on July 31 as continuing to deteriorate (Exhibit 72); on 
September 23rd the Chief of Naval Op~r~tions wrote me that "conversation~ 
with the Japs have practically reached an impasse.u (Exhibit 37). It was 
never expected that these insistent, ominous predictions required, each time 
they were mad~, an abrupt discontiDWUlce of essential training measures for 
all-out security disposition,. Any such action would have seriously inter­ 
fered with training and in a relatively short time, reduced the efficfency 
of indiVidual ships to a dangerous degree. In fact, in a letter of Aprlf;l 31 
19/41 (Exhibit 7..3) the Chief of Naval Operations cautioned specifically, 111 
advise that you devote as much time as may be available to training your 
forces in the particular duties which the various tmits may be called upon 
to perform under your operating plans. The time bas arrived, I believe, te 
perfect the technique and the methods that will be required by the special 
operatio~s which you envisage iJDmediately after the entry ot.the United States 
into War. If _..., 

I expressed my own needs to- the Chief of la.val Operations in my letter 
of llay 26, 1941 (Exhibit .33), in -:trhich I stated, •Full and authorits,ti~e know­ 
ledg~ of current policies and objectives, even though necessarily late at 
times, would enable the Commander-1.D-Chief, Pacific Fleet, to modify, .adapt, 
er even reorient his present course of action to conform to current concepts. 
This is particularly _applicable to the current Pacific situation where the 
necessities for intensive training of a partly trained fleet must be care­ 
fully weighed agairJst the desirability of interruption of tm:s training by 
strategic dispositions or otherwise to meet impending eventualities.• I con­ 
cluded with the suggestion 11that it be made a cardinal principal that the 
Commander-in-Chief', Pacific Fleet, be immediately inf'ormedot all :iJllportant 
developments as they occur and by the quickest secure. means available.• I 
t'ully expected to receive such 1.Dformation. I now believe that this record 
rill shoJr the failure of the Navy Department to inform Die of known "impend­ 
ing eve11tuaJ.ities" in the week·immediatel.y" preceding December 7. I shall dis­ 
cuss in more detail hereafter, my own estimate of the situation made at the 
time in the light of the information which was given me prior to the attack. 

The fleet was divided into three ma.in task forces and the schedule 
of operations required .at lea.st one te.sk force at sea at all times, available 
to strike in the event of surprise. Often two task forces were at sea at the 
same time but never three except for concentrated fleet maneuvers. Each of 
the task forces had its miasion and training was eonaucted with a view to its 
attaining maxiJllUlll efficiency, in carrying out its mission. However, .j,.t was 
necessary to.afford time in port for all ships in order to provide for the 
overhauli.Dg of machinery, against the day when all forces 'might be called 
upon for action against the enemy. It :was essential to push a material im­ 
provement progre.m covering installation, as soon as available, or short-range 
anti-aircraft guns, aircraft detection devices, look-out equipment, splinter 
protecti0ll1 additional personnel accommodations and other alterations. It 
-was also necessary to lilllit operations to the availability of-replacement 
fuel. We were applying to the Fleet the lessons of war which were being sup­ 
plied us. F.ach installation and alteration, whether it was splinter protec­ 
tion, degaus~g, or the installation of listening gear, required work on the 
ship in port. 
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Naturally the ship's force was -~ngaged'in many tasks of instaJ.la tion, 
repair and alterati011 to the limit of their capacity while in port. It was 
my policy to prevent breakdowns rather than run tb.e risk of breakdowns, and 
to have the Fl~et in the best material condition possible at the outbreak 
of hostilities. It goes :without saying, of course, that the necessity for 
re£ueling_in port in and of itself, prevented keeping task forces at sea at 
all times. The ellren tankers .were re.quired to operate continuously between 
Pearl Harbor and the West Coast in ore.er that the fuel at Pearl Harbor should 
not be depleted. 

Subnarines constituted a menace in the operatdng area .around Hawaii. 
During the first week of February and the first week of my command of the 
fleet, a subnerged submarine conte.ct :was reported a.bout eight miles from the 
Pee..rl Harbor entrance buoys. A division of destroyers trailed this contact 
for approximately 48 h9urs af.ter which contact •as lost. The destroyer.s 
were confident it was.a Japanese subnarine. I was not fully convinced, but 
made a complete report to Naval Operations stating the action taken :and add­ 
ing that I would be delighted to bomb every suspected submarine contact in 
our operating area around Hawaii. I -was directed by despatch not to depth 
bomb submarine contacts except :within the three mile limit. 

A .rmllar contact in approximately the same position was made about 
the middle of March. Again the destroyers engaged in trailing were confi­ 
dent that thi:ly bad trailed a Japanese suhnarine. Again the evidence was not 
conclUf!i.Q because the -subna.rillellMJ. not actually been sighted. During the 
ensuing several months there :were seve:t" inore«r.&por.ts. of strange submerged 
subnarine contacts in the Hawaiian area. As late as 23 September 1941. (Ex:­ 
hibit 12) the Chief of Nav-al. Operations wrote to me in part, "the existing 
orders, that is, not to bCJmb suspected subnarines except in the defensive 
sea areas are apprepriate. It conclusive, and I repeat, conclusive evidepce 
is obte.i:ned that Japanese submarines are actually in or near United States 
territory, then a-strong warning and threat ot hostile.action agairist such 
sul:marines Jrould appear to be our·next step.• Such conclusive evidence was 
not obtained until the attack of December 7th. However, upon receipt of the 
despatch of. November2l, 1941. (Exli;>it 17), I issued orders to depth bomb all 
strange subnarine contacts in the Fleet operating area .and informed the Chief 
of !lave1 Operatione by despatch and letter of the action I had taken. 

On October 16, 1941 the Chief of Naval Operations sent to me-the des­ 
patch 1'bich has been introduced in evidence before the Court (Exhibit 1.3). 
This despatch indicated a strong possibility of hostilities between Japan 
and Russia; a possibility that Jap811 ~t attack the United States and 
Great Brite.in. It directed me to take due precautions including such pre­ 
pare.tu,- deploym•t as would not disclose strategic intention nor constitute 
provocative actioDS against-Japan. 

I particularly invite the Court's attention to the directive in the 
despatch of October 16 (Exhibit 13). I urge a comparison of this directive 
with the language contained in the '.later despatches of November 24th -and 
Novernber -£7th (Exhibits 15 and 17) ~ The admOIJition against disclosure o! 
strategic intention and provocative action contained in th.a despatch of 
October 16 (Edlibit 13) has its echo in the despatch fr011 the Chief of Naval 
Operations on November 29- (Exhibit 19) directing my attention to the .ArJIJ1' 
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despatch which stated, flThe United States desires that Japan coII}IIli t the 
first overt act••••••••" and which required that measures taken should not 

.alarm the civil population or disclose intent. The despatch of October 16th 
spoke of •preparatory deployments.• The so-ca.llea War Warning of November 
27th directed :all "appropriate defensive deployment preparatory to carrying 
out the tasks assigned in WPL-46"• 

Upon receipt of the despatch of October 16th, (Exhibit 13) I made 
the following dispositions; I continued to maintain the patrol of two sub­ 
marines at Midway; despatched 12 patrol planes to Midway and two submarines 
to Wake to arrive on October 23rd. I · apatched the Gas·tor and two destroy­ 
ers to Johnston and Wake with additional marines, ammunition and stores~ 
The Curtis was to arrive at Wake on 21 October with gas, lube oil and bombs. 
I prepared to send six patrol planes to Midway from Pearl Harbor~ I despatch­ 
ed .additional marines, to Palmyra. .:Admiral Pye who :was on the West Coa1:r-t, 
making a cruise, was placed on twelve hours notice after 20 October. r had 
six subnarines prepared to depart for Japan oa short notice. I put some ad­ 
ditional security measures into effect in tbe operating areas outside Pearl 
Harbor and delayed the sailing of the West Virginia uµtil about 17 November 
when she was due to go for an overhaul at Puget Soundo 

All these dispositions which I made as a result of the despatch of 
October 16 were speoifical.ly brought to the attention of the Chief of Naval 
Operations in my letter o£ 22 October which is in evidence. (Exhibit 14). 
In a letter of November 7th, the Chief of Naval Operations specifically ap­ 
proved these dispositions (Exhibit 74). This specific approval of my dis­ 
positions makes it unnecessary for this Court to consider whether they con­ 
formed to -what Admiral R. K. Turner testified.he thinks the Department in­ 
tended me to do after the October 16 despatch. 

In the despatch of 16 October 1941 I -was formally advised that tb~re 
wa• a possibility Japan would attack the United States and Great Britain. 
That phrase was given a definitive meaning in the Chief of Naval Operations 
letter to me of 17 October 1941, (Exhibit 38) in which he said, npersonal.ly 
I do not believe the Japanese are going to sail into us and in the message 
I merely .stated the possibility.111 -To me that meant that when the word •pos­ 
sibility" was used, its connotation was limited - and that, when used, the 
meaning of the Chief of Naval Operations·:was that "possibility• JriA not 
11pro ba.bili ty. 11 

The despatch of October 16th indicated a strong possibility of a Jap­ 
anese attack upon Russia. In ·l;his .ccnnectdoa, my correspondence with the 
Chief of Naval Operations shows that the Deparuaent had envisaged such& Jap­ 
snase movement as possible as early as the S'WDIIler of 1941 •. At that time I · 
repeatedly endeavored, without success, as my letters show, to find out the 
probable attitude of the United States in the event of Russo-Japanese hostil­ 
ities. 

On November 24th (Exhibit 15) I received a despatch from the Chief of 
Naval Operations which is before the Court, which stated that the chances of 
favorable·outcome of negotiations with Japan were very doubtful, and that in 
the Department's opinion, a surprise aggressive movement in any direction, 
hcluding attack 0111 the Philippines or Guam is a possibility. However, in a 
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letter 0£ November 25th (Exhibit 16), 'to Which the Chief of Naval Operations 
added a post-script after a presumably informative conference. with the Pre­ 
Rident and Mr. Hull; he stated, "I still rather look for an advance into 
Thailand, Indo-China-J3urma ar.ee. as the most, ely.11 And the Chief of Na-gal 
Oper.ations added, . 111 won •t go into the pros and eons of what •the United 
States may do. I will be dammed if I know. I wish I did. The only thing 
I do know is that we may do most anything and that's the only thing I lmo:w 
to be prepared for; or we may do nothing - I think.:it is more likely to be 
'anything' • 11 . . 

I interpreted the ™ibilit[ of attack on the Philippines and Gu8Jll 
in the same vein that I bad·bee:n advised the word was used in the despatch, 
viz, a possibili-VJ' but by no means a probability. The letter of 25 November 
(Exhibit 16) fortified my belief' that this interpretation was correct. The 
Chief 0£ Naval Operations has testified that he did not intend that I should 
discontinue the training program for 11all-out11 security measures upon receipt 
of the despatch of Novara.bar 24. (Exhibit 15) (See Record, pages 50-53). 

I :was completely out of touch with the details of the negotiations pro-, 
ceeding between the Japanese representatives in Washington and our Government. 
The Chief of Naval Operations in a letter of October 17, 1941 {Elchi.bit .38) 
had told me that the Chinese incident was '"The stumbling block. n In a let- 
ter of November 14 (Exhibit .39), the Chief of Naval Operatiens sent me a copy 
of a memorandum for the President signed by himself and General Marsha11 
which advised against direct armed United States intervention in China and 
recommended specificaJ.J.y· that 11no·'ultimatum be delivered to Japan,11 (Elchib- 
it 39A). This represented my general information as t6 how much of a Jtstumbl­ 
ing block!' China might prove to be in the negotiations. I did not know at 
that time, nor did I learn until I read the official published State Depart­ 
ment papers long afterwards, that the outline of a proposed basis for agree­ 
ment between the United States and Japan handed to the. Japanese ambassader 
by my Government on 26 November contained the following passages under steps 
to be ·taken by the Government of the United States and the Government of · 
Japan.- 

'11.3. The Government of, Japan Will withdraw all military, naval, 
air and police forces from China and Indo-China. 

114. The Governm13nt of the United States and the Government of 
Japan will not supportmilitarily, politically, economical­ 
ly any government or regime in China other than the nation­ 
al government of the Republic of China with capito1 tempor­ 
arily at Chunking.n 

These passages in the note of November 26 were most significant. It 
is nof within my sphere to decide whether they are consonant with the advice 
of the Chief• of Naval Operatdons and tp.e Chief of Staff to the President, 
that no ultimatum be delivered to Japan. The historians of the future may­ 
ponder the question of whether diplomacy took a more venturesome approach 
than the judgment of the military deemed prudent. Suffice it to say that I 
did not know of the delivery of this 3ignificant document of November 26th 
to the Japanese Government by the Government of tho United States, and be­ 
cause I did not know this, the Japanese had vital information originated by 
my ow Government which was denied me. Consequently, any possible logidal 
connection in the sequence of events between the note of November 26th and 
the so-called nwar Warning" of November 27th (Exhibit 17) :was lost to me. 
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The .so-called 0War Warning" of'Novembe'r 27th has been introduced in 
evidence befGre this Court (Exhibit 17). I ask the Court to view it not 
with any meaning attached to it by-hindsight after the event, but as it would 
appear to a responsible Commander at the time it was received. In the first 
place, it will be noted that the despatch states at the outset that the nego­ 
tiations between Japan and .America regarding the stabilizing of the conditions 
in the Pacific have ceased. In the second place, it will be ol:erved that the 
time for expected Japanese movements is stated to be 11within the next few days11 
and the territory against which such movements are directed is specifically 
stated to be "the Philippines, Thailand, the Kra Penninsula and possibly Borneo." 
In specifically mentioning these places as objectives of a Japanese amphibious 
expedition, the Department appeared to be ii.mi.ting the phrase in its despatch 
or November 24th which mentioned as a possibility, 11a surprise aggressive move­ 
ment in any dir,e,ctioa,." The only .American Terriroty against which· Japanese op­ 
erations are expected is the Philippines. I -was not in a. position .to evaluate 
the probable .American action in the event the initial Japanese attack was made 
against Dutch or British Territory. :Arly commitments made by the United States 
with regard to the protection of the territories of these nations were not known 
to me. From the Chief' of Naval Operations I pest script to his letter o£ Novem­ 
ber 25th (Exhibit 16) I gathered he had no-more definite knowledge in this re­ 
spect than I did. 

I did not know of the conversation of Mr. Dooman, the Counsellor of the 
United States Embassy at Tokio, with Mr. Ohashi, the Vice Minister of Foreign 
Affairs, relative to what the United States would do if Japan attacked Singa­ 
pore. (Foreign Relations of the United States, Japan Vol. II, p. 137). I 
did not know of Ambassador Grew1s statement to Mr. Matsuoka on February 15, 
191,J. (ibid 138). This information w4s in the State Department on March 17, 
191,J.. I was likewise denied the information of the statement by the Secret­ 
ary 0£ State to Admiral Nomura in Washington on August 16, 1941, that "this 
Government could not remain silent in the face of such a threat, -,0 
{ibid 553). I -was also denied 'whatever inf'orm~tion was 1-bind the despatch 
feam Commander-in-Chief of the Asiatic :E'leet to' the Chief of Naval Operations 
of 7 December 1941, (Erllibit 76, Document 4) sent to me for information and 
received after the attack, that the Commander-ia."'l-Chief o£ the Asiatic had learn­ 
ed from Singapore that the United States. had assured Britain armed support 
under several eventualities, but concerning which tpe Commander-in-Chief of 
the Asiatic Fleet had not been .advised. 

My reaction and the reaction of my staff to the so-called 11Wa.r Warning1' 
of November 27 was naturally affected by two despatches from the Chief of Nav­ 
al Operations, (Exhibits 18 and 40) sent about the same time, which together 
with similar despatches from the War Department to General Short, proposed 
the relief of the garrisons at Midway and Wake, with Army troops, and the re­ 
placement of Marine planes on the islands by Army Pursuit planes. F.xhibits 
50 and 51, my personal and official letters to the Chief of Naval Operations 
of December 2, 1941 contain a clear contemporaneous account of' the problems 
involved in this proposal. These letters show that the Army's despatches to 
General Short went beyond the suggested reinforcement by the,Army of the J4a.­ 
r.ine garrisons, and iJ.1dicated that the Ar'f.J.IY would take over the defenses of 
the islands. The despatches from the War and Navy Departments indicated that 
the exchange o£ planes and troops was of an urgent nature. This proposal did 
not originate with me or with General Short. 'l'he members of my staff did not 
know why the exchange had to be made. Obviously the senddng of some fifty per 
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cent of the Army .Fighter Pursuit strerlgt..1. on 'Oahu (as :was proposed by the 
War and Navy Departments) affected materially the defensive strength of 
Pearl Harbor. It appeared to·us at the scene, that such a proposal would 
not be made by the Departments in Washington, if they anticipated the immi­ 
nent impact of hostilities upon Oahu. Moreover; the proposed relief of the 
Marine Garrisons by Army troops necessarily entailed disruption of the de­ 
fense of those islands during the entire time that one Garrison was prepar­ 
ing to depart and the other becoming installed. The Army had nothing cOI11- 
parable to a Marine Defense Battalion so that the Army Garrison would have 
had to have a new table of organization. Likewise, Marine and Army Fighter 
Squadron~ were differently organized. The proposed change which emanated 
from Washington, on or about the time of the despatch of the so-called 11War 
Warning" did not simply entail a change of personnel; it involved also a com­ 
plicated log~st~c problem. 

Furthermore at Wake there were no harbor facilities. Material and 
personnel had to be landed from ships practically in an open sea-way. Wake 
was the most westerly and advanced of the two islands. Such an operation 
had no protection from the elements. The defense from enemy action could 
not be more ineffective. 

It seemed to us that a project of this nature would not have been 
planned' or proposed by responsible authorities in Washington under any sit­ 
uation where the defense of Pearl Harbor was a matter of immediate concern. 
We recommended against sending the Amy Fighters to the islands; first, be­ 
cause o~ce landed, they could not be removed and; second, ~cause at confer­ 
ences on the subject, Major General Martin, CQ\jmanding the Hawaiian Air Force, 
il1formed us that the Army pursuit planes could not operate more than fifteen 
miles from land. · 

On November 29 the Chief of Naval Operations sent to me, as an infor­ 
mation addressee, a message (EXhibit 19) which was in substance a quotation 
of the Chief of Staff's despatch to General Short, of November 27 which Goo­ 
era.l Short had previously brought to my attention. This despatch stated 
that "negotiations with Japan appeAX: to be terminated, with only the barest 
possibility of· resumption." It-stated that "the United States desires that 
Japan comit the first overt act." It insisted that measures taken, should 
be carried out so as not to,alarm the civil population or disclose inteot. 
The Chief of Naval Operations added to the substance of the Army message of 
November 27, direct instructions that, WPL52 is not applicable to the Pacif­ 
ic area and the further direction to "undertake no offensive a~tion until 
Japan has comrnitt~e an overt act.0 It re_iterated the need for prepara-b).on to 
carry out the tasks assigned in WPL46 so far_as they apply to Japan. 

The recurrent tnote in these /frn.y and Navy despatches of caution against 
alarming the civil population, of emphasis upon the necessity that the Jap­ 
anese commit tpe first overt act tended to create a state of mind which pre­ 
vented any action except that consistent with a passive defense. I still 
had no explicit authorization-to depth bomb submarine contacts in the fleet 
operating.areas. Indeed, under a literal interpretation of our orders, if ,a 
Japanese naval force were to be encountered·at sea, we were, in effect, di­ 
rected to wait until they opened fire. 

-.12 - 



The "few days" stated by the Navy Depar-tment, 011 November 27 to be 
the time for an aggressive move by Japan went by without event. The nego- 

' tia.tions which on November 27th were stated to be terminated, and 011 Novem­ 
ber 29 to be terminated with the barest possibility of resumption, were in 
fact resumed. The public press and radio news broadcasts- contained accounts 
that the negotiations were continuing after November 27 and after November 
29. I took into account this public informe.tion as to diplornatic cevelopment 
in the absence of more authoritative information. Indeed Admiral Turner tes~ 
tified that the Navy Department anticipated and expected I should. 

In fact, I now know that the Japanese were continuing negotiations on'­ 
ly as a device to cover up their plans. In fact, the Japanese considered . 
that the negotdatdons were ruptured after the American Note of November .26. 
The re&J. situation was than known to the Navy Department in Washington. But 
I was never advised that the resuption of negotie.tions was a Japanese trick, 
as official Washington knew it to be. The public resUJ1ption of negotiations 
after the despatch of November 27,. which was predicated on this termination 
naturally affected my evaluation of the international situation. It suggest­ 
ed a mitigation of the emergency Which prompted the so-called "warning". In 
a public address in London on December 8, 1941, Mr. Churchill stated: "Japan­ 
ese envoys Nonnira and Kurusu were ordered to prolong their missions in the 
Uriited States in order to keep conversations going while the surprise attack 
was being prepared., to be made before the declaration of war could be deliver­ 
ed.... As Commander-in-Chief of the Pacific Fleet, I was not permitted to know 
what Mr. Churchill .apparently knew, and the Navy Depar-tmen t cert1.1inly knew, 
that the resumption of negotiations was a Japanese stratagem. 

The denial to me of knowl.edge of cer tedn material facts, is not cited 
as an excuse for inaction on my part after November 27th., for I was by no 
means inactive after November 27th. After full consultation with my staff - 
all experienced snd,responsible officers - I undertook to comply with the di­ 
rective to make an appropriate defensiv~ deployment preparatory to carrying, 
out the tasks assigned in WPL46. 

I took the followingaction., on receipt of the so-ca.ll..ed "War Warning." 
I ordered to Wake one Patrol Squadron, then at Midway, and it iroceeded on l 
December conducting reconnaissance sweep enroute , Patron a.t Midway was re­ 
placed by Patron from Pearl and left Pearl 30 November via Johnston, conduct­ 
ing a reconmdssance sweep enroute Johnston and enroute Johnsbn to Midway. 
This squadron made daily. search from Midway on three, four, five and six De­ 
cember. I sent the Enterprise to Wake with VMF squadron, departing Pearl on 

.28 November, landing planes at Wake on 3 December. The Enterprise conducted 
daily reconnaisssnce flights with its own planes. Patron at Wake was then 
withdrawn; it conducted reconnaissance sweep enroute Wake..to Midway and a 
similar sweep from Midway to Pearl Harbor. The Lexington proceeded to Midway 
with VMF squadron departing Pearl 5 December. It conducted daily reconnais-· 
sance fligh,ts w-lth its own planes enroube , and was 400 miles southeast of Mid­ 
way when t.h war •broke. The Burroughs was despatched to Wake with additional 
forces and supplies including Radar, but was short of Wake when war bfoke. 
She departed Pearl 29 November. I directed daily reconnaissance flights of 
VP planes, based on Pearl Harbor, to cover the fleet operating areas and ap­ 
proaches thereto. I also iasued an order that any Japanese submarine found 
in the operating areas around the Island of 0.ahu should be depth bombed, and 
so informed the Chief of Navil Operations, as I have previously 11oted. Sub­ 
marine patrols were continued at Wake and Midway. 
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It is almost unnecessary to point out -that the Department knew the 
operating schedule governing the particular time our three task forces were 
in and out of port. The Department at no time prior to Dece.mber 7, criti­ 
cized my dispositions or indicated that I was not complying with its wishes. 
These dispositions were caJ.cw.ated to strengthen our outposts to the South 
and.West against the time when they should face the call of all-out hostili­ 
ties • 

.Admiral Halsey and Admiral Newton, (who were in command of the forces 
carrying reinforcement planes to Midway and Wake) were empowered to take ap­ 
propriate action against any hostile atta.cking planes. 

Beginning latter part of November, a memorandum to show what the ini- 
tial steps would be were war to come was kept up to date. The last provision ri..l.Vt,{,t.et,t 
was made on the 5th of December and was gone over by Jje on the morning of 
December 6th. These memoranda outlined steps to be taken in case of .Americnn­ 
Japanese war and are in evidence before the Court as Exhibits 69A and 69B. 

On 30 November, I received a despatch (Exhibit-76) stating that there 
were indications Japan was about to attack points on the Kra Isthmus by over­ 
seas expeditiono 

On 3 December the Department sent a despatch stating that it. had r.e­ 
ceived highly reliable information that certain Japanese consular posts were 
directed to destroy most of their codes and ciphers. This despatch (Exhibit 
20) was not a clear cut warning of any Japanese intention to strike the Unit­ 
ed States. It stated that the Japanese instructions were to destroy "most1t 
of their codes - not a1l their codes, a point noted by me and my staff at 
that time. It was entirely consistent with routine diploma.tic precautions 
by Japan against the contingency that the United States and Britain might 
declare war against her end tske over diplomatic residences if she took ag­ 
gressive action against the Kra Isthmus. The significance of this despatch 
was diluted substantially by the publication of this informa.tion in the morn­ 
ing newspaper in Honolulu. Both Admiral Pye and Admiral Smith testified that 
they read of this fact in the press before the receipt of the despatch from 
the Navy ,Department. The wide publicity given this certainly removed it from 
the category of secret intelligence information. 

On 6 December, the Department sent a. despatch authorizing the destruc­ 
tion by the outiying Pacific Islands of secret and confidential documents 
•now or under later ccndftdcns of greater emergency," (Exhibit 22). In the 
report of the Robert's Commission this despatch is mentioned, and a signifi­ 
cant word is added in this paraphrase of the despatch in the Commission's 
report. That word is the adjective "tense", modifying the noun111_situation". 
'.Xh~ adjective "tense" was not in the original despatch seDt to me• 

In no despatch sent to me was there any .warning of a probable or im­ 
minent air attack upon Pearl Harbor. The "Fort-nightly Summary or Cufrent 
Na.tional Situations,.n issued by the Office of the Chief of Naval Operations 
under date of December 1, 1'41 (Exhibit 57) stated on page l, .nstrong indi- ~ 
cations point to an early Japanese advance against Thailand." The same pub­ 
lication on.page 9, under the heading, "The Japanese Naval Situation," stat- 
ed definitely "the major capital ship strength remains in haje waters as well 
as the greatest portion of the carriers." Intelligence ava.ilable to me lo- 
cated. other fapanese carriers in waters far dists.nt f~Olil Hawaii. We knew 

-14-. 



that a raiding expedition would have to leave Japanese waters approximately 
two weeks before they could make an attack on Pearl Harbor. From our infor­ 
mation therefore we had every reason to believe that the attack would not 
be made at the time it was made. 

At Pearl Harbor, the Japanese inflicted upon·the United States a tac­ 
tical reverse. But Japan made a fatal strategic blunder. Had they sought 
to accomplish their program of Southern expansion, without frontal assault 
upon .American interest or territory, .American entry into the war might have 
been in doubt for some considerable time. Our people were not united upon 
the issue of the advisability of American entrance into the world conflict. 
The blow at Pearl Harbor instantly unified the nation. It precipitated the 
nation into the world conflict. In the long run, it was bound to be a colos­ 
sal blunder from the Japanese viewpoint. Responsible officers in the Pacific 
could not entirely exclude from their minds the fa.ta.l long term folly of such 
action by Japan. This was a factor that we discussed .and weighed with other 
elements in evaluating the situation as Admiral. Pye testified. This did not 
diminish our war readiness but it was bound to-.be a factor in any sober esti­ 
mate of the situation. We did not know, of course, that Mr. Hullhad told 
the Navy Department on or about December 3rd, that he considered that the 
Japanese were in an irrational, mad dog state of mind. 

From November 27th to December 7th, 1941, General Short and I con­ 
ferred frequently. Present at these conferences were Rear Admira1 w. w. 
Smith, my Chief of Staff; Captaiu c. H. McMorris, my War Plans Officer; 
Optain W~ter s. DeLany, my Operations Officer; and Rear Admiral. c. c. 
Bloch, Commandant 14th Naval District. Others who.were probably present 
were Lieutenant Commander Layton, Fleet Intelligence Officer, and Colonel 
Pfeiffer, USMC, an assistant War Plans Officer in Charge of Marine Plana 
for outlying islands; also.Captain A. C. Davis, U. s. Navy; my Aviation Aide; 
Rear Admiral Calhoun, Commander of the Base Force; Major Genera1 Martih, Com­ 
manding Hawaiian Air Force; his aide; and General Short's aid~• 

Our relations then, as ever, were cordial and cooperative. One of my 
first acts af'ter my appointment as CommaDder-in-Chief was to make a call up­ 
on General Short to establish our ~elations on that firm and friendly basis 
which characterized them throughout our tenures of office. On the afternoon 
of November 27th the Army despatch from the Chief of Staff to General Short 
was delivered to me by Captain J. B. Farle, USN, Admiral Bloch's Chief of 
Staff o· On the same a.fternmon, I caused to be del.ivered to Genei-al Short a 
paraphrase of OP NAV secret despatch o•f that date. On November 28th the mes­ 
sages from the War and Navy Departments were discussed. We arrived at the 
conclusion at this and succeeding conferences that probable Japanese actions 
would be confined to the Far F.ast with Thailand most probably and Malaya, 
the Netherlands East Indies and the Philippines the next most probable objec­ 
tives in the order named. In general, we arrived at the conclusion that no 
immediate activity beyond possible sabotage was to be expected in Hawaii. I 
believe that at the conference of November 28th, some discussion arose .as to 
what action the United States would telce in case the Japanese attacked Thai­ 
land, the Kra Peninsula and Malaya without making war upon the United States. 
We knew that Admiral Hart's staff in the Asiatic had held .staff conferences 
with the Brj_tish and the Dutch and that information had been exchanged. How­ 
ever, we had not been informed of what' action was to be taken in case the 
British and Dutch were attacked and the Philippines were not attacked. 
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I was very much concerned· over my orders not to ta.ke any hostile ac­ 
tion and the emphasis placed upon tbiB in both messages. I realized the 
enormous handicap this placed upon the Fleet. We had known many instances 
of the swift and deadly action of attacking aircraft both from the incidents 
in actual war abroad and in our own .meneuver-s , .All o:f the information given 
us by the Navy Department and our estimates led to the conclusion that an -air 
raid on Pearl Harbor was neither imminent nor probable. General Short .and I 
had many times discussed the possibility of a surprise air a tta.ck against 
Pearl Hp-boro We made frequent representations to Washington pointing out 
the inadequacy of the forces furnished to repell such an attack. Washington 
evidently discoUDted heavily the probability of an air attack against Hawaii 
for the means supplied to repell such an attack were iuadequate up to and in­ 
cluding December 7th. 

· Of course, it must bot be overlooked that General Short's total concerns 
and duties did not completely dove-tail with mine. lleneral Sh8rt was not 
charged with any joint responsibility with me for the operation of the Paci­ 
fic Fleet. So far as the Navy's part in supporting the Army's defense of 
Pearl Harbor detailed plans were made by the Naval.Base Defense Officer. 

- - 
.Among the topics which were discussed at the cooference with -·General 

Short to which I have referred, in addition to the despatches of November 
.27th were the following: · 

1. The defense of Pearl Harbor. . 
2. Garrisons and re-liefs for the outlying islands. 
J. The transfer of fighter pursuit planes to the outlying islands. 
4o The transfer of flying Fortresses from Hawaii to the Philip- 

pines b7 way of Midway, Wake, Port Moresby and Darwin. 
5. The development of alternative land plane route to Austrel.ia 

via Palmyra, Canton, Christmas, Samoa, .Fiji, Noumea. 

With regard to the defense of the base at Pearl Harbor., the evidence 
before this Court shows that the estimates and opera.ting plans approved by 
General Short and Admiral Bloch had set forth in detail the steps to be tak­ 
en by the Army and the Navy for the defense of Pearl Harboro The responsi­ 
bility was fixed and the various elements of the Army and Navy knew their as­ 
signed tasks. The only action required Was a decision to take one of the 
alerts or conditions of readiness-. All available forces were to be employed. 

So far as the Army was concerned I knew in genere,:J. the measures adopt- 
ed by General Short as a result of the despatch of November 27th. General. 
-short had orders to report in deta.il to the Chief of Staff the measures he 
bad taken, He did this. I_ knew he had orders to make such a report. Gen~ 
eral. Short went on his alert No.land I understand that through his liaison 
with the 14th Naval District, the Navy had formal information that he was on 
such an alert. 

For the sake of rounding out the picture, the Court will note that on 
November 28th, General Short -was sent a message by the .Adjutant General di­ 
recting in effect that all necessary measures be taken to protect military 
establishments, property, and equipment against sabotage. The War Department 
knew he was on an alert against sabot.age. Undoubtedly GeneraJ. Marshall satis­ 
fj.ed the Robert's Commission by explaining, as he did before this Court, that 
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General Short's reply to the War Department',s despatch of November 27th was 
stapled to a message from the Philippines, which was on top of it, that he 
initialed the reply from the Philippines but did not initial the reply from 
General Short which he could not recall seeing. (See Record of this Court, 
P• 880). Under these circumstances, nothing is more fantastic than to at­ 
tempt by some obscure reasoning to fasten upon the Commander-in-Chief of the 
Pacific Fleet some criticism because General Short prescribed the form of 
,alert which appeared to be required by his orders and with which the War De­ 
partment was per-fectly familiar and I might add, the Navy Department as well. 

The Robert's Report specifically charges that General. Short and I 
failed to confer with respect to the warnings and orders issued on and after 
November 27th and to adopt and use the existing plans to meet the emergency. 
And again, 11It :was a.dereliction of duty on the part of each of (the Command­ 
ers) not to consl:llt and confer with the other respecting the meaning of in­ 
tent of the warnings and the appropriate measures of defense· required by the 
imminence of hostilities." I solemnly deny the truth of these charges. I 
am satisfied that the evidence before this Court establishes beyond doubt 
the inaccuracy of those charges. In fact the Court will find that the Roberts 
.Report itself contains findings GD this subject which are self-cont~adictory. 

General .Short had every reason to know with reasonable accuracy the 
operation of distant air reconnaissance from Oahu. General Martin, the Com­ 
manc~ General of the Hawaiian Air Force received a daily availability re­ 
port of Navy planes and made a similar report to .Admiral Bellinger. There 
were only six .Army bombers on Oahu capable of performing distant reconnais­ 
sance, a fact specifically called to the attention of the Navy Department by 
me in a despatch of November 27th (Exhibit 76, Document 4). The Navy car­ 
ried out a daily reconnaissance of the operating areas which was well known 
to General Short and Admiral Bloch. 

On March 31, 1941, appropriate representatives·or the Army and Navy 
in the Hawaiian Islands in cooperation and coordination .or their activities, 
had executed a plan for the _:AIR DEFENSE of the Naval Base at Pearl Harbor 
(Exhibi·I; 53). This plan, Addendum I, to Naval Base Defense Force Operation 
Plan, specificaliy. discussed the possibility of a._hostile air raid at dawn. 
Under the heading, t1ACTION OPEN TO US" there is the following decision: 

•(a) Run daily patrols as far as possible to seaward to reduce 
the probabilities of surface or air surprise. This would 
be desirable, but can only be effectively maintained with 
present personnel and material for a very short period 
and as a practicable measure can not th'erefore be undertak­ 
en unless other intelligence indicates a surface raid is 
probable within rather narrow time limits.• 

This plan :was on file with the Departments in Washington. They knew 
of this decision. They had done nothing to change or alter the basic defi­ 
ciencies in personnel and material which required that decision. 

There was no intelligence in the messages of November 27th or in lat­ 
er messages available to me and Gener,µ Short to i11dicate that "a surface 
raid was probable within rather narrow time limits.n (Exhibit 53, Addendum 
I to Naval Base Defense Air Force Operation Plan No. A-1-41) Our estimate 
of the situation, made after frank and full discussion of the intelligence 
we received with our staffs at the mattings I have ref~rred to, was that an 
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air raid on Oahu was neither probable nor i.mminent. The appropriate repre­ 
sentati'ges of the .Army and Navy in Hawaii had by a coordinated decision made 
months before; concluded that distant air reconnaissance through .360° could 
not be undertaken. The factors underlying this decision with.respect to ma­ 
terial aDd personnel had not changed. We had no basis for altering it on 
and after November 27th. 

I knew the Army's portable radar sets were operable. Some months be­ 
fore General Sijort had~informed me that he 'could give an all around coverage 
of at least 150 miles and probably 200 miles. The Army's a11~craft warning 
service including the information net·was still incomplete on December 7, 1941.. 
Public telephones and special temporary cornmunicatWE,in'EllOds were usable but , , 
slow and inefficient. 

The failure to man the radar after 7:00 I.M. Sunday, 7 December :was 
apparently due to a peculiar lapse. Prj_or to that date, these temporary sta­ 
tions had been working from about 4:00 in the morning carrying on training 
operations for the greater part of the· day.. Of course, tjle maintenance of 
aircraft warning service was specifically""lihe ,Ar~y• s furrt.ion. The unfortu­ 
nat.e last minute-deviation from the apparent Army routine with respect to its 
operation was unknown to me. 

D;l§tant Reconnaissance,: To insure Pearl Harbor against a surprise at­ 
tack. from airplanes-based ona tast carrier, it is necessary to patrol the 
evening before to a distance of 800 miles on a 360 degree arc. This requires 
84 planes on one. flight of 16 hour-s , The pool for a protracted period. or 
searches of this character would require about three times this number. In . 
addition, a dawn patrol to a distance of .300 mile.s is a further necessity. 
100 patrol planes would be required for the pool for this dawn patrol. This 
dawn patrol is necessary because any search of 800 miles radius is certain 
to encounter, daily, many areas of greatly reduced visibility.· Roughly 
speaking, in .a 360 degree search of 800 miles radius in the Hawaiian area we 
cannot count, on an average, of mor~ than a seventy-five percent coverage. 

Any distant search which we could have made over an extended period 
VTould have been incomplete and ineffective. 

The Roberts Report charges me with cereliction of duty for failure to 
operate a di°S'tant reconnedaeance , Vice .Admiral Bellinger has testified ex­ 
haustively on this subject. To discuss it in detail would involve repiti­ 
tion of statistics of available planes and operational problems now in evi­ 
dence before the Court. Now it will suffice to say that Admiral Bellinger, 
charged with the direct responsibility of this phase of the Navy's participa­ 
tion in that defense, testified that with the material and personnel avail­ 
able any adequate search was impossible for more than a few days. For a per­ 
iod of ten days, as from 27 November until 7 December, approximately 30 planes 
were available for a 700 mile daily search - not an 800 mile search. This_ 
could at best cover about one-third of the 360 degrees of the circumference~ 
Such a search would be ineffective. Having covered the operating areas by 

,air patrols, it was not prudent in my judgaient and that of my staff, to 
fritte·r away our sliin resources in patrol planes in token searchej!s and thus -I­ 

seriously impair their re9.uired availability to carry out their functions 
with the Fleet under approved War Plans. I deny that the charge in the Rob­ 
erts Repor,t is supported by any rational and intelligent evidence before 
this Co.urt. 
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I wish particularly to invite the attention of the Court to Fleet 
letter ·2CL4l of 14 October 1941.. (E:drl.bit 8). This letter deals. with the 
security of the Fleet in Pearl Harior. It provides for all fo~eseeable 
contingencies. This, and other official documenbs , provided for the use 
of all available forces, both of the Army and the NaVIJ in case of an attack 
011 Pearl Harbor. As Commander-in-Chief of the Fleet I appreciated thorough­ 
ly the inadequacy of the forces available to the Commanding General and the 
Commandant of the 14th Naval District. By my orders, all naval, forces in 
port at the time of an attack were made available a,nd allocated to add to 
the forces defending Pearl Harbor. 

I had many 9-ifficult d~cisions to make but none which required.more 
accurate timing than the decision as to when to drastically curtail train­ 
ing and to utilize all my forces in the highest form of alert sbabus , The 
warnings I received prior to 7 December 19L.l, were of such a nature that I 
felt training could still continue. I felt that I was entitled and would. 
:receive further warnings be:f.'ore the actual outbrealc of war. I am convinced 
now that my estimate based upon the ilrcelligence :received was correct. 

An attempt is made to read into the phrase 'War Warning" a signifi­ 
cance broader than the specific intelligence which the message contained. 
I submit that it should not be construed as a "catch all" for the contin-• 
gencies hindsight may suggest. The specific in·celligence in the message 
did not indicate that an attack on the Hawaiian .area was imminent or probable. 
The rest of the dispatch after the phrase, ~This is a war warning,n at most 
states in substance .tl:lat an attack is expected on the Philippines and some 
foreign territofy in a few days. The edge of this message, so far as it .af­ 
fected the Philippines, was somewhat blunted by the passage of the few days 
vrithout such an event and by the apparent continuing of negotiations durdng 
and after the next few days had passed. 

The proper procedure for placing the fleets on a war basis is pre­ 
scribed in Chapter II, section 2 of WPL46. This provides for mobilizing 
the fleet in whole or il1 part or for executing this war plan in ,vbole or in 
part prior to a declaration of war. This prescribed procedure is definite 
and understandable, by all elements of the naval service. The prescribed 
procedure ·was not used prior to December 7, 1941. · 

In these circumstances I at·cempted to use the means at hand to take 
care of the most likely present dangers and the most probable future needs. 
I did not deem it wise, for reasons, I have pcilted out at length, to expend 
at that time the limited number of patrol planes available in partial and 
ineffective distant reconnaissance. An attack in the localities indicated 
in the dispatch would require practically all types except submarines and I 
ther.efora directed extreme k'J.gilance against submarine attack il1 the Hawaiian ;/ 
area. The promptness with which the ships opened fire the morning of' the 
Seventh speaks volumes for the readiness of the fleet in port. 

In brief, in the light of the information I had, and the means at hand, 
I adopted the measures I did, not lightly, but in the exervise of my most c:. 
considered judgment, supported and sustained by a group ofdis·tinguished and 
experienced officers who represented a cross-section of the best natal brains 
in the world.. The s~eguent accomplishments of these officers demonstrates 
their outstanding abili'ties. 
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So far, I have analyzed my actions in,the light of the information 
which was available to me. But the Pearl. Harbor incident can not be under­ 
stood or accurat,ely depicted wit.hout an account of the information which 
was available in the Navy Department and not given to the Commander-in-Chief 
of the Pacific Fleet. 

I knew nothing of the American note of November 26th to Japan. I did 
not know that the terms of that note were considered by some of the best in­ 
formed officers in the Navy Department, to be utterly unacceptable to the 
Japanese, prior to any indication of the Japanese attitude after its receipt. 

I was told on November 27 that "negotiations have ceased"; However 
on November 28 a weaker statement of the status of negotiations ·was sent me 
by the Navy Department. This was the quotation of the .Army dispatch, setting 
for·th that "negotiations with Japao ~.r. to be terminated to all practical 
purposes with ~-t~e bares..t_ ~oss:U?.i..l.itz•that the Japanese gove~nment might 
come back and offer-to continue." - -From-this point on, I was left on my own 
by the Department to get such information about official conversations with 
Japan as I could from the press and radio - a source which the Director of 
War Plans, in the Office of the Chief of Naval Operations, has testified he 
deemeff to be one of my most valuable sources of information regarding enemy 
"intentions and movements•. 

Contract the il1formation available to me in the Pacific, in this con­ 
nectdon with the information available to responsible officers in the Navy 
Department in Washington, indeed with 1ihe information available the President 
and the Secretaries of State, War and Navy. 

-*- * * * * * * * * ¼ ... 

The clearing of my name iJ.!ll connection :with the Pearl Harbor incident 
would, of course, have meant more to me had such action been taken in a time­ 
ly manner. Now it means more to the Service and the Nation than it does to 
mel !t means that the Naval Officer of the future may go about his duties 
secure in the feeling that never again shall a conscient,ious officer doing 
his best in the light of what he knew, and with the best advice he could ob­ 
tain, be made the scape goat for a national catastrophe due to circumstances 
beyond his power to alter or control. 

The remainder of my staternent, pages :21 to .25 both inclusive, have 
been extracted from the record and deposited with the Secretary of the Navy. 
This action has been tAicen bj~ the Court in the interest of national security 
and the successful prosecution of the war. 

,, 

H. E. KIMMEL 
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S E C R E T 

Statement of Rear Admiral H. E. Kimmel, 
U.S. Navy, Retired, before the Naval 
Court of Inquiry Investigating the 
Japanese Attack on Pearl Harbor, con­ 
tinued. 

Contrast the inf orma. tion available to me in the Pacific, in this con­ 
nection with the information available to responsible officers in the Navy 
Department in Washington, indeed with the information available to the Pres­ 

.ident and the Secretaries of St~te, War and Navy. They were able to read 
and know the innermost thoughts of the Japanese leaders. They knew from a 
secret channel that Japan considered the :American note of November 26th a 
11humiliating proposal", tha·t; Japan intended that relations with the United 
States be ruptured upon receipt of her view in reply, that she was consult­ 
ing with Germany and that she informed Germany on or about the first of 
December. that war with the Anglo-Saxon powers would "come sooner tijalil .anyone 
eA-pectsu. They also knew that Japan for some stealthy purpose of her own, 
intended to simulate the continuation of negotiations by informing the press 
that conversations were going on. Tha~ is just what happened! Some conver­ 
sations did take place after November'' 27th. The press carried accounts of 
them. I could not ign0re those accounts. By failing to keep me informed 
of t.he real sit~\ion, the Navy Department permitted itself to play ·i:'lto the 
hand of the Japanese stratagem of keeping up a simulation of conversations. 
It knew the full details of the Japanese stratagem; it not only failed to 
inform me of those details, but left me in a position to be victimized by 
this Japanese trick, as I endeavored to form an estimate of the situation, 
far from the seat of government, from bits of informat,ion I could piece to- 
gether. · 

The same strange withholding of information applies to the execution 
of the so-called Winds Code. Here was an elaborate system set up· by Japan 
to announce a momentous national decision to her diplomatic representatives. 
I do not deem it important to cavil about the various interpretations 0£ 
what the executed· signal meant; In one document in evidence it is spoken 
0£ as an announcement of Japan's 11war decd.sacn" (Exhibit 64, Docuaenv 3). 
In testimony about other documents it is referred to as meaning a rupture 
of diplomatic relations including war as a possibility. The Director of 
War Plans regarded the signal as meaning a rupture of diplomatic relations 
including was as a 11probability11• Whatever shades of meaning are iiveD to 
the Winds Code it certainly denoted the gravest possible crisis in Japanese 
relations with the countries mentioned. It indicated an important time ele­ 
ment connected with that crisis. It is significant that the Navy Department 
regarded it as of sufficient importance to use every facility to intercept 
the signal of execution, and to provide a special system for communicating 
with all possible speed the intercepted signal to resp0nsible officers in 
-~he Navy Department. 

The testiJjony leaves no doubt that the signal of execution of the 
Winds Code "East Wind .Rain11 meaning war or a rupture of diplomatic relations 
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with the United States was intercepted by tlte Navy Department on or about 
4 December 19/4].. The two officers having the most direct contact with this 
type of information, Safford and Kramer, actually saw the message with the 
ominous words in it. Admiral Turner (Director of War Plans) remembers that 
Admiral Noyes (Director of Naval Communications) told him that the message 
had been received. Admiral Turner further knew that it was the execute deal­ 
ing with United States relations which had been received • .Admiral Ingersoll 
remembers something about it. Admiral Stark remembers nothing about it; Gen­ 
eral Marshall recalls hearing the matter discussed at a meeting of the Joint 
Board~ The only witness who says it was not received, Admiral Noyes, con­ 
cedes that the memory of his subordinates is better than his own on this and 
related matters. 

By some strange chance, every record of the execution of the Winds 
message in any form has d:i.sappe~red from the Navy Department files. Even 
the communication of the F.c.c. intercept d,ealing with Russia which Brother­ 
hood received is not a matter of record in the Navy Department. The Judge 
Advocate had to go to the F.c.c. for that information. Why?· Why has the 
executed form of the Winds-Code vanished frrnn the files of the Navy Depart­ 
ment, after the elaborate advance steps taken to il1tercept and promptly dis­ 
tribute such information when it came in? 

In any event the execution of the Winds Code by use of the prescribed 
words affecting relations with the United States was not ferwarded to the 
Commander-in-Chief of the Pacific. You have the testimony of the Intelli­ 
gence Officer of...my.staff Captain Layton, as to the importance we would have 
attached to the execution of this code with the prescribed·words used af­ 
fecting the United States, had it been forwarded to us. 

The same withholding of information characterizes the distribution 
of the intercepted material consisting of Japanese inquiries about ships in 
Pearl Harbor. I am aware of testimony that Japanese curiosity as to move­ 
ments of the Fleet to and from Pearl Harbor and other places had been com­ 
mon in the past. But it is not possible to minimize, in this fashion, the 
very pointed..queries and reports about the precise area.sin Pearl Harb.or in 
which various ships were berthed.· This curiosity goes beyond an interest 
in whether the Fleet or portions of it were at sea or in port e.nd is consist.,.... 
ent Viith a planned attack on the ships in port. Such inqtiides:, coming from 
a nation which had indicated she expected shortly to be at war with the 
.Anglo-Saxon-powers, certail1ly were of such interest that .they.ought to have 
been forwarded to me for evaluation. 

There wa.s no reason why I, the Commander of that Fleet, shoulid not 
have been informed of the sinister Japanese interest in the position of its 
u11its in port. 

Even more inexplicable are the events of Saturday, December 6, 19Lil, 
and Sunday, December 7, 19/4].. By 9:00 P.M. Washington time, December 6, 
1941, which was J:30 in the afternoon at Pearl Harbor, the Navy Department 
had translated and ready for distribution all but the last paragraph of the 
Japanese note which was delivered on 7 December, and also a message indicat­ 
ing that the time of its delivery was to be fixed in a separate dispatch. 
The tone and temper of that note was stronger and blunter than in any previ­ 
ous Japanese diplomatic communication. The .accusations in that note directed 
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to the .Americru.1 Government the charges that 'the United States :was scheming 
for an extension of the war, are characteristic of the language with wbich 
the 11:x:is powers bre?,k off diplomatic relations with other nations -- indeed 
are consistent with.a declaration of war. The element of timing involved 
in the fact that the time for delivery of the entire message was to be fixed 
in a separate dispatch, was obvious on Saturday night, December 6. This in­ 
formation was distributed'to the President, t:qe Secretary of the Navy and 
responsible officers in the Navy Department by Commander Kramer after 9:00 
P.M. Washington time on December 6, 1941, and before midnight. Not a move 
was made to se;nd any word 0£ it to the Pacific Fleet. 

On the morning of December 7, 19/41., the last part of the Japanese 
message was decrypted and ready for delivery -- ce~tainly by 7:00 A.M., 
Washington time, which was six hours before the attack. At least ~wo and 
half hours before the attack the precise time of delivery of the note as 
1300 Washington time was known to the Chief of Naval Operatdons, and short­ 
ly after 10:.30 A.M. Washington time, this information was available to the 
Secretaries of War, Navy and ptate. The officer who brought this informa­ 
tion to the Secr-e tary of the Navy podrrted out what the officer thought a ibay­ 
man might miss, but a naval officer could not escape, the relation of the 
time of delivery in Washington to the time of day in Pearl HarboF. Despite 
all this, the Chief of Naval Operations on his own initie..tive did nothing to 
communicate with the Pacific Fleet. Wheo at some later time the Cbief of 
Staff of the Army called him, he left the communication with the Pacific 

I 
Fleet to the Army communication facilitie:s. He says he inquired as to their 
rapidity. The Chief of Staff says he did not inquire. In any event, the 
belated Army dispatch, sent through commercial channels, did not arrive un­ 
til after the attack. 

The intelligence information tba,t is now before this Court in Exhib­ 
it 6,3 ._ con:veys to me who was at Pearl Harbor during the ten_.da.ys prior to 
7 December 1941 the following conclusions:. 

1. Japan was to attack the United St~ttes. The winds message 
with its various interpretations would have meant to me with 
the background of all the other information in these diplo­ 
matic intercepts - war with the United States. 

2. Pearl Harbor was one of the probable points of att~ck. To 
the Commander of the Fleet the series of requests. for infor­ 
mation from Tokio to the Japanese Consul in Honolulu first 
to report ship movements, second to report regularly regard­ 
less.of no change and third to report the ships in specific 
areas in Pearl Harbor, with the actual report available on· 
6 December of not only the location of ships in Pearl Harbor, 
but the courses followed in and out of the harbor -- means 
but one thing. To me it means and would then have meant 
that an attack was contemplated against the ships in Pearl 
Harbor. It was not the usual information that a foreign 
nation seeks to ascertain movements of ships. The knowledge 
of the locations of ships in Pearl Harbor can mean only 
utilization of that knowledge while the ships were still 
there. -This information i was known in Washington in its en­ 
tirety on Saturday, 6 December. 
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3. At 9:15 P.M. E.S.T.; Sa'GJclrday, 6 December 1941, the hour 
of attack was imminent - 1.3 of 14 parts of what Japan 
later called its declaration of war were available. It 
was known that in aJ.l probability a zero hour · had been 
fixed which was to be communicat4d later. 

4. Sunday morning, ~ever~ hours before the attack, the zero 
hour was set as 1 P.M. E.S.T. 

In :a single sentence this may be summarized -- Informatiori indicat­ 
ed that on Thursday, Japan was to attack the United States; on Saturday 
that one of the probable points of attack would be Pearl. Harbor; on Satur­ 
day evening that the hour of attack was irmninent; and on Sunday morning, 
that it was probably a matter of ~ours. 

I 
.All of this informe.tion was denied to me. 

The question arises in any rational mind why.was all this informa­ 
tion not given to the Commander-in-Chief of the Pacific. There are two 
theories on this .m~tter that may be deduced from tne evidence given before 
this Court by responsibie officers in the Department at the time. Ac1mira.l 
Turner, Director of W~:· Plans, indicates he thought the Commander-d.n-Chf.ef 
Pacific was getting this material as a matter of routine. His conception 
was entirely erroneous. Admiral Noyes, from whom .Admiral Turner stated he 
received such assurances on several occasions, testified he never intention­ 
ally gave such an erroneous impression. On the other hand, l\.dmireJ. Stark 
and Admiral Ingersoll knew that this materi1:1l was not being sent to me. 
Their position is that the so-called War Warning of November 27 plus the 
dispatches about the codes, sent thereafter, said everything. All the sig­ 
nificant developments in a dynamic situation evolving in detail after Nov­ 
ember 27, and heading to an immediate crisis .on and after December 4, on 
this theory are read back into the dispatch of NoveJnber 27th. It is not 
possible, however, to spread the dispatch of November 27th as a blanket over 
the intercepted dispatches available thereafter. The sharp and significant 
details of information'thereafter_ available, the rising crescendo of the 
crisis, the element of timing involved in Japanese plans add essentiala to 
the picture which the so-caJ.led v,ar warning and other dispatches do not 
give, either exp~itly or·cy· implication. 

This apparently was realized by some responsible officers in the 
Navy Department. It would appear that the unsent McCollum message was de­ 
signed to summarize the important information which I did not have. This 
message appears to have had the support of .Admiral Wilkil1son. It was in;i.­ 
tiall.ed and approved for release by Admiral Turner. What happened to it 
thereafter, can not be developed in this record. 

Captain McCollum is a Japanese language student. He was in charge 
of the Far Eastern sectdon of the Office of Naval Intelligence during 1941 
and until after the Attack on Pearl Harbor. His testimony in regard to the 
messages which he prepared and which were not released could be most illumin­ 
ating. Likewise the testimony of Rear Admiral Wilkinson who was the Direc­ 
tor of Naval Intel.ligence would clarify matters which are at present obscure. 
These two officers whose testimony has been denied this Court were responsi­ 
ble in the organization for supplying the Commander-in-Chief, u. s. Pacific 
Fleet, with enemy information. 
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The failure to send me the vital infdrmation which I have outlined 
after November 27, :was the very thing I sought to avoid in my letter of 
May 26, 1941., "S'Uilllllary of Conditions in the Pacific Fl.eet11, wherein I 
made clear to the Department that my problems required that I have up-to­ 
date information of diplomatic developments "by the. most ri:Lpid secure means 
available". I am content to stand on my actions taken in the light of what 
information I had. But if ·as indicated in .Admiral Turner's testimony be­ 
fore this Cc.>urt, the Ro-berts Conunission was given the impression that I had 
access to and lwowle4ge of the intercepted Japanese diplomatic traffic, then 
a grave and irreparable injury has been done me. This does not excuse the 
Commission in scourgiug me on the unsubstantiated charge of failure to co­ 
operate with the Army. But it may explain their disposition to find fault 
with my conduct, although the reasons they publicly assigned were not the 
baseless ones they may have been privately led to accept. 

H. E. KIMMEL 

- 25 - 


